
NARRAGANSETT TOWN COUNCI 
WORK SESSION MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 18, 2017 MINUTES 
 

 At a Work Session Meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Narragansett held 

on Monday, September 18, 2017 at 5:32 p.m., at the Narragansett Town Hall. 

           Present:  Susan Cicilline-Buonanno President 

                  Matthew M. Mannix, President Pro Tem 

      Jill A. Lawler, Member 

      Michael T. Moretti, Member, absent 

     Patrick W. Murray, Member  

     James M. Manni, Town Manager 

      

Susan Cicilline-Buonanno, President calls the work session meeting to order to review  

Beach revenues and the operation of the beach for the 2017 summer season. 

President Buonanno advised the Steve Wright, Parks and Recreation Director would 

review a PowerPoint Presentation for the council. 

 

Steve Wright, Parks & Recreation Director addressed the council on the operation of the 

beach season for 2017.  He introduced staff members, Bill Etheridge, Scott Hassell and 

Michelle Kershaw.  The following members from the Recreation Advisory Board were 

present:  Keith Kyle, Roxanne Pieria, Rick Lima and Patrick Brady. 

 

 



Town Council Work Session Meeting 
September 18, 2017 
Book 58 Page 560 

 

Steve Wright reviewed the mission and out the department carries out the mission for the 

town beach.  He reminded everyone that the beach is funded by an enterprise fund and 

not tax dollars. He noted the beach was a town asset and such all policies should first 

serve the town residents. He spoke of the importance of consistent policies with 

accountability, efficient beach operations and cleaned and well-maintained facilities.  

Steve Wright explained that a survey is done every year to review  the operation. It was 

noted that the Town Beach was nominated for the “Best Beach in Rhode Island” through 

the Providence Journal. 

 

Mr. Wright advised that the town was able to dispense 750 ounces of complimentary 

sunscreen from Raw Elements in the first pilot program in the State of Rode Island. It 

was noted that the program was sponsored by six businesses. 

 

Steve Wright reviewed the operational concerns of the full parking lots on weekends, 

beach overcrowding and unsupervised teen population. He spoke on the youth attendance 

for the ages of 12-17 and the growing concern with the large number of unsupervised 

youths displaying rude behavior and consuming alcohol.  It was noted that many of the 

youth are from neighboring towns. 

Mr. Wright reviewed the parking challenges throughout the summer months, the South 

Pavilion lockers and noted that most nonresidents purchase lockers for obtaining the  

 



Town Council Work Session Meeting 
September 18, 2017 
Book 58 Page 561 

 

parking pass only. It was noted that in 2017, the recreation department sold 370 

additional nonresidents parking passes.  

The Recommendations from the department and the Recreation Advisory Board is as 

follows:   

 Increase  Daily Admissions rate from $8.00 to $10.00    

 Keep daily parking rates same: $10.00 weekdays, $15.00 weekends & holidays.                           

 Eliminate 103 South Pavilion Locker Non-Resident Lessees: This would eliminate 

181 parking passes with a loss of $69,000.00. 44 residents are presently on the SP 

waiting list which = $15,400.00 without the additional $100.00 non-resident 

parking passes. 

 Starting in 2018:  for ALL NEW leases in the North and South Pavilions eliminate 

the ability to obtain one additional non-resident parking pass. All existing leases 

from 2017 and earlier will retain the right to obtain one additional non-resident 

parking pass until lease is not continued.   

 Hire off duty police officers and or retired police officers as security personnel for 

daytime shifts from 11:00 am to 7:00 pm to replace CSO day shifts. Beach 

Enterprise Fund 0034-50216 is $42,000 for Police Protection CSO’s: 

recommendation to use 50% of this fund to hire day shift security. CSO’s for 

second shift to lock gates and check buildings.  

 Install security lighting and cameras in Cabana Area similar to North Pavilion, 

South Pavilion and North Beach Clubhouse 



Town Council Work Session Meeting 
September 18, 2017 
Book 58 Page 562 

 

The other possible solutions for consideration for the next beach season in 2018: 

 Eliminate all Non-Resident Season Passes  

1. Youth Season Admission Passes 
754 Residents 
2,348 Non-Residents   

 Loss of $46,960.00 
 

2. Adult Admission Passes 
5,511 Residents 
4,015 Non-Residents   
Loss of $200,700.00 
 

3. Senior Season Admission Passes 
2,163 Residents 
1,353 Non-Residents   

 Loss of $27,060.00 
 
Total $343,720.00 Loss      

 

 Mr. Wright commented on the revenue loss of $343,720, however by increasing the 

daily admission from the current $8.00 to $10.00 would be an increase of $204,788.00. 

He noted that the beach revenue was down 5% over the 2016 season, which was a banner 

beach year due to the weather that summer. He noted the revenue for the 2017 beach year 

was $2,323,234.88. 

 

Steve Wright briefly reviewed the capital improvement project and payroll for the beach. 

He noted that the beach cannot be open unless lifeguards are on duty.  He also spoke on 

the quality of the town’s lifeguards 



Town Council Work Session Meeting 
September 18, 2017 
Book 58 Page 563 

 

President Buonanno thanked the Parks and Recreation Director for the presentation and 

the employees that work at the beach.  She commented that many residents want a 

balance with the residents, non-residents and the revenues.  She also said that doing away 

with the non-seasonal and non-resident passes would help even with the loss of revenue.  

She said she has heard from residents repeatedly how they want parking and blanket 

spaces on the town beach.  

She also spoke on changing the time dogs to be allowed on the beach and would be 

looking into that ordinance and asked that the department extend the mat on the sand to 

further down to the water in order to push wheelchairs on the beach. 

Steve Wright recommended that the time for the dogs not allowed on the beach should be 

on both ends of the season and requested the dates should be April 15th to October 15th. 

Steve Wright said he already has ordered another mat for the beach. 

 

President Buonanno asked the director to recap the recommendations again. 

Mr. Wright said they wish to eliminate all of the non-resident south pavilion lockers, all 

residents’ partner and share in the north and south pavilion with relatives out of state.  He 

said no one new renting would have a non-resident parking sticker.  He said it would 

eliminate all non-resident admission season passes.  He said the opportunity for a daily 

pass would still be available. 

 

 



Town Council Work Session Meeting 
September 18, 2017 
Book 58 Page 564 

 

Councilor Murray questioned what the #1 complaint was made on the survey. 

Steve Wright said that every given day it was lack of parking, overcrowding on the beach 

and the youths.  He also suggested increasing parking fees. 

 

Steven Wright said the recommendations are a good start to see what will happen for the 

next season. 

 

Councilor Lawler asked if there was a way to monitor rental properties and the 

transferrable passes.  She said there should be a resident transferrable pass but not a non-

residential transferrable. 

Steve Wright advised that the rental properties pay $200.00 for transferrable. 

It was noted that ball playing was at the discretion of the staff. 

 

The following individuals addressed the council: 

 Roxanne Pereira, Unknown person, Joan Mulligan, Karen Shabshelowitz, 

Katherine Aesop, Rick Lima, Patrick Brady, Bonnie Steveo, Corey Sullivan, 

Dennis Lynch 

President Buonanno thanked Steve Wright again for the presentation and 

recommendations.  She said the council would be looking at the transferrable pass for the 

rental properties, ball playing in a designated area, rules in policy should be more 

specific, sound system near cabanas, looking at the residential pass regarding adult  



Town Council Work Session Meeting 
September 18, 2017 
Book 58 Page 565 

 

children who visit parents,  grandfathered nonresidents, holes in the beach sand, sunblock 

program. 

President Pro Tem Mannix commented that he agreed with increasing daily passes, 

eliminate nonresident season passes.  

Councilor Lawler commented that she agreed with the recommendations from the 

Recreation Advisory Board. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

The meeting ends at 7:03 p.m. 

ATTEST:                                                                  MINUTES ACCEPTED AS  
                                                                                  PRESENTED 11-06-17 

                                                                    

Anne M. Irons, CMC                                               Anne M. Irons, CMC 
Council Clerk                                                           Council Clerk 
 
 
Power Point Presentation Attached “A” 

Spreadsheets (4) Attached “B” 
































































